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INTRODUCTION: THE DILEMMAS OF A NEW ALLIANCE

On the morning of February 3, 1964, Manny Diaz woke up wondering
how many Puerto Rican students would not go to school that day. Puerto
Ricans were known for having the highest high school drop-out and sus-
pension rate in New York City, but the reasons for students’ absences that
day were deliberate, premeditated, and voluntary. For more than two
decades since urban renewal projects segregated them into increasingly
poor and racialized neighborhoods, hundreds of thousands of Puerto Ri-
can migrants had witnessed their children’s schools deteriorate under the
leadership of racially prejudiced white teachers and administrators. By
1964, however, their moral indignation ripened, and they were ready to
publicly voice their anger. Diaz, who had been leading a juvenile delin-
quency program with Puerto Rican youth in the Lower East Side, and
Gilberto Gerena-Valentin, who had been organizing Puerto Ricans in the
city through labor and community organizations, decided to join hands
with black educators who had been fighting racial segregation in the city
for many decades.? They allied with black civil rights leader Bayard
Rustin, who aimed to dramatize black children’s inferior education in the
city by boycotting the entire public school system one day.

Diaz and Gerena probably wondered about the political ramifications of
making such an alliance with black Americans. Would black Americans
treat Puerto Rican migrants any better than white Americans had? Were they
friends to be trusted or enemies to be feared? To their surprise, and the sur-
prise of many others, the boycott was very successful. Despite the stigma
of engaging in civil disobedience, 464,361 students stayed out of New York
City’s public schools on that morning. More than three-fourths of the stu-
dents from the heavily black-populated neighborhoods of Central Harlem
and Washington Heights, as well as the Puerto Rican-dominant Lower East
Side and East Harlem neighborhoods did not go to school.3
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The rest of the city had various responses to such an interracial demon-
stration of grievance. “When East Harlem turned out for the integration
boycott, it was the first time in the community’s history, or the city’s, that
Puerto Ricans joined with Negroes in protest and pursuit of a common
goal,” proudly claimed Patricia Cayo Sexton, a social worker in East
Harlem. Bayard Rustin boasted that the most significant fact in this
protest was that “Negro and Puerto Rican communities had joined
together to work for common objectives.” Many Puerto Rican leaders,
however, did not share Sexton and Rustin’s enthusiasm. A month later,
when Gerena organized a subsequent march from City Hall to the Board
of Education office to focus attention on the plight of Puerto Rican chil-
dren a month after the boycott, numerous Puerto Rican leaders de-
nounced his decision. Pentecostal ministers from East Harlem declared,
“Politics and Christ don’t mix,” while others claimed that Gerena was a
“Communist.”> Gerena later confessed that he “received vicious attacks
by some of our racist Puerto Ricans” for his collaboration with blacks,
while Diaz revealed that some Puerto Ricans told him that “he was too
close to blacks.”

If so many Puerto Ricans felt that joining black protest would jeopar-
dize Puerto Ricans’ own precarious status in the city, why did Diaz pur-
sue alliances with black leaders so eagerly? Did his darker skin make him
more prone to identify with black politics? Or did his working-class
background lead him to identify with blacks because they held the most
politically radical voice in the 1960s? Why was he so successful? Despite
the political risks involved in imitating black protest, more than 1,800
Puerto Rican parents showed up to march to the office of the Board of
Education in March of 1964. Whether it was Diaz’s physical features or
class politics which drew him to the black civil rights movement, he be-
came a dynamic Puerto Rican leader at the height of the civil rights strug-
gle in New York City because he appealed to a sentiment common to
many other Puerto Ricans—kinship with working-class black Americans.

The life and career of Manny Diaz embodies the multiple ways in
which Puerto Ricans related and identified with black Americans in the
postwar era. To many who look back on the history of the civil rights
struggle, it may seem obvious that Puerto Ricans would join black
Americans in the struggle toward racial equality because they were poor
and most of them were nonwhite. Puerto Ricans’ self-identification as a
minority group alongside black Americans rather than an immigrant
group, however, was the result of a deliberate decision. There was nothing
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“natural” about their decision to coalesce forces; rather they came to-
gether through a common belief that a coalition would strategically
serve the interests of both groups.

The most significant barrier that separated black and Puerto Rican
communities initially was the difference between their racial conscious-
nesses. Black racial consciousness taught them that the world was
strictly divided between whites and blacks. Puerto Rican racial con-
sciousness, however, provided a much more fluid system of social hier-
archy. As political scientist Mark Q. Sawyer and others argued, Puerto
Ricans, as well as their neighboring islanders, such as Cubans and Do-
minicans, developed a system of “inclusionary discrimination,” in which
a real system of discrimination based on shade gradations functioned
in tandem with a perceived system of inclusion.” Puerto Ricans made
differentiations between “light” and “dark” physical complexion, such
that the majority of the Puerto Rican upper class was “blanco” (white)
and the majority of the lower class was “negro” (black) or “mulato”
(mixed). The perception, however, that one could “whiten” oneself
through interracial marriage or social mobility, led all of them, whether
“blanco” or “negro,” to believe that they belonged to a racially inclusive,
democratic society.

Puerto Ricans who migrated to New York City in the postwar realized
that they could no longer hold onto their Puerto Rican racial sensibilities
once they confronted the more binary system of American racial segre-
gation As sociologist Samuel Betances argued, lighter Puerto Ricans saw
that their privileged status as “blanco” (white) in Puerto Rico became un-
certain among white Americans who might now view them as belonging
to an inferior “Puerto Rican race,” while darker Puerto Ricans saw that
their social stigma as “negro” in Puerto Rico would deteriorate if they
became “black” in the U.S.8 As a group of migrants with a racially am-
biguous identity, they realized that they could harness the social privilege
of whiteness as Irish, Italian, and Jewish immigrants did—or at least at-
tempt to do so—or they could forge a coalition toward racial and eco-
nomic equality by identifying with and allying with black Americans.?
Diaz chose the latter and successfully led many other Puerto Ricans to fol-
low him. He chose to form friendships and alliances with black Americans
and adopted their political strategies because he found Puerto Ricans’ best
allies among civil rights activists. By doing so, he shaped Puerto Ricans’
positioning within the terrains of U.S. politics, which would affect many
generations to come.
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FROM ISLAND BOY TO COMMUNITY ACTIVIST:
THE FORMATION OF A POLITICAL AND RACIAL IDENTITY

Born in 1922 in Humacao, Puerto Rico, Diaz felt comfortable socializing
with light and dark-skinned Puerto Ricans since his childhood. Son of
Filomena Zoe Velazquez, a seamstress, and Manuel Diaz Gomez, a mu-
sician and bodega owner, Diaz was born in a family that had experienced
generations of interracial mixing. Diaz’s hometown, Humacao, was an

Manny Diaz with parents on Harlem rooftop c. 1934.
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Important sugar cane growing area of the island since the nineteenth cen-
tury, and as a result, it had been populated by a large number of African
slaves. Having grown up in an area of the island with an especially heavy
African presence, Diaz claimed that, “at the age of five, my mental set was
already . . . there’s nothing wrong with being black 10
It was not until he joined the U.S. Army Signal Corps in 1942, however,
that he began to understand that he might be “black.” Ironically, by fight-
ing for his own country, he began to realize how different he was from
other Americans for the first time. Puerto Ricans from the island were
drafted into the 65th Infantry Division during World War II, but Puerto
Ricans from the mainland were conscripted into white and black units
arbitrarily."! As Diaz explained, “As a Puerto Rican, they never knew how
to classify us. It depended on who looked at you behind that desk whether
you went into one army or the other army. I have some blonde, blue-eyed
cousins who went into the black army. I was put into the white army.”
Whether his selection into the white army was a sign of good or ill fortune,

he began to experience anti-black racism for the first time in his life by
training in a white platoon in the South.

We were sent to Camp Shelby, Mississippi. That was the hellhole
of the universe. . . . They decided to give us a furlough, so my-
self and four other guys went into a bar in Biloxi. We ordered five
beers. The bartender placed a beer in front of all my buddies, but
not in front of me. So I asked him, where is my beer? He said,
“Back there, boy.” He had a beer for me at the end of the counter

of the bar, so I said, “No thank you.” I told my buddies I’d wait for
them outside. :

This was the first time Diaz had been publicly humiliated due to his skin
color. After such an experience, Diaz vowed, “I never wanted to go back
to Biloxi again.”12

This incident, however, would not be Diaz’s last encounter with white
racism in the South. During a dress parade, Diaz got into a fight with a
white soldier from Texas who had stepped on his heel repeatedly. “ ‘Hey,
watch it!”” Diaz warned him. “He stepped again a third time, and I just
whirled around and punched him on the nose.” When the two of them were
summoned by their captain, they both were sentenced to two weeks on
kitchen police duty, which meant that they had to peel potatoes everyday
for a couple of hundred soldiers. Such experiences made him aware that,
though he was not as dark as some African Americans, he was not white.!3
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Surprisingly, however, Diaz’s experience with whites was never ab-
solutely hostile. In his memories, at least, he preserved the stories of
whites who humiliated him, but also of those who genuinely befriended
him. In Biloxi, Diaz recounted that he was partially protected from the
trauma of such an experience because his four white friends, who had
come from the North, showed their disapproval of the bartender’s racism.
When they came out of the bar, one of his friends, an Irish man named
Shortly Dolan, “threw the bottle on the window of the bar, the window
shattered, and we started running.” The shattering of a window may have
cost the bartender little damage compared to Diaz’s humiliation, but in a
small way, his friends had protected Diaz’s dignity. The soldier from
Texas also broke down his barriers once they began to work with each
other in the kitchen. “Lo and behold, after two weeks, this guy and I be-
came good friends. That was unexpected. For the first couple of days, I
wouldn’t even talk to him. But I guess the hardship of being a KP
(kitchen police) brought us together.”!# Such were the contradictory ex-
periences of a Puerto Rican man caught in the midst of an arbitrary sys-
tem of racism—he was humiliated and protected, belittled. and be-
friended. He experienced racism first hand, but still recognized the fear,
ambivalence, and humanity of his enemy. Diaz saw that he had been un-
justly kept from certain opportunities—for example, he knew that he
had never been able to reach a rank beyond a corporal because he was
caught drinking beer in the barracks, an act overlooked for many of his
white peers. Even so, he was able to go to the white PXs (Post Exchange
stores) in England where he passed as white. “While I am Puerto Rican,
I could pass,” he explained.!> As Diaz traveled through the American
South and Europe, he realized that his racial identity was geographically
contingent—he was a Puerto Rican in New York City, a black man in
the South, and at times a white man in England. As he began to under-
stand how arbitrary the system of racial hierarchy was, however, he be-
gan to feel a “kinship toward black people.”

His identification with black Americans solidified when he entered the
City College of New York (CCNY). At CCNY, Diaz met Kenneth B.
Clark, a black psychologist who would soon become his mentor and the
scholarly architect of the Brown V. Board of Education court decision
of 1954. “He just opened my eyes and opened my mind in terms of
racism. . . . I knew it was bad, I knew I was being discriminated against,
but I had never seen it in a context, a societal context as Ken Clark put
it,” explained Diaz.!¢ While taking all the classes that Clark offered at
CCNY between 1946 and 1951 and later writing a master’s thesis under



58 Journal of American Ethnic History / Spring 2007

his supervision, Diaz began to understand the meaning of his experiences
in the context of the larger political forces that determined his choices.

As a college student interested in understanding class and racial op-
pression, Diaz also joined the National Association for the Advancement
of Colored People (NAACP) chapter at CCNY. Diaz explained that, even
though he was not black, “The NAACP was my first choice because there
was no other choice.”!” In the late 1940s, Puerto Ricans did not have ef-
fective structures through which they could voice their political opinions.
The Puerto Rican Alianza Obrera (Workers’ Alliance) and the Liga Puer-
torriqueria (Puerto Rican League) had organized Puerto Rican socialists
in the 1920s, but they were no longer active after the 1930s.!8 Vito Mar-
cantonio, congressman of the 17th District in East Harlem from 1936 to
1950, represented Puerto Ricans’ most loyal political advocate in the years
previous to World War II. The onset of the Cold War and McCarthyism,
however, effectively destroyed his political strength since he was seen as
having too many “communist political tendencies.”!® When a large num-
ber of Puerto Rican migrants came to New York City following World War
I1, the Migration Division of the Office of the Commonwealth of Puerto
Rico helped them deal with the primary issues of housing, jobs, and edu-
cation.? The Commonwealth Office, however, could not provide a means
of expression of the most politically radical Puerto Rican voices since it
was an institution constrained by the U.S. and Puerto Rican govern-
ments.?! Lacking networks with powerful Puerto Rican political groups,
Diaz sought for alternative places where he could further his own intel-
lectual development. He found his home at the NAACP chapter at CCNY.

As a graduate student at Columbia University’s School of Social Work,
Diaz met Malcolm X in the early 1950s and forged a friendship that would
enlarge his role as a civil rights activist. When he heard Malcolm X speak
for the first time, Diaz said, “I was awestricken, I really was. [I felt] ad-
miration, reverence, all of these things. I was surprised he would even talk
to me.” Upon Malcolm X’s invitation, Diaz was able to share a cup of

coffee and his own life story. “He was asking me about the Puerto Ricans
in New York, and what were our problems, and how do we feel about
racism and so forth . . . so we kind of hit it off. I felt more relaxed and
more able to share on a friendship basis, not just an awesome figure that
happened to walk through my life.”?? To a young man who was looking
for inspiration, Diaz’s personal encounters with Malcolm X left a deep im-
print on his political views.

Having had a personal experience of racial discrimination while serv-
ing in the U.S. army and having contextualized such experiences through
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the teachings of Kenneth Clark and Malcolm X, Diaz became deeply com-
mitted to pursue racial and class equality by the end of his formal educa-
tion in the late 1950s. His first experiences as a social worker, however,
proved very challenging as he was thrown into the thick of ethnic battles
between Puerto Ricans and white ethnic immigrants in East Harlem and
the Lower East Side. He first began to work as a social worker at the
Union Settlement in East Harlem in 1953. William Kirk, the Settlement’s
director, hired Diaz not only because he had all the right credentials, but
also because Diaz was Puerto Rican and a former gang member. As a
young boy, Diaz had belonged to the Dukes, the most notorious Puerto
Rican gang in East Harlem in the 1930s.23 He had joined the gang simply

+ for self-protection because “if you didn’t belong to a gang, you were de-

fenseless.”2* This experience, however, would prove invaluable to him in
the late 1950s since city social workers were desperately trying to solve
the problem of juvenile delinquency among Puerto Ricans.

The city had seen an enormous emergence of youth gangs since the
1940s. Although Irish and Italian gangs previously were viewed as com-
monplace and reflective of a healthy level of male adolescent boisterous-
ness, youth gangs became a social menace when they became racially
charged and more violent in the postwar era.?5 As the number of black
southern and Puerto Rican migrants coming into the city increased, Irish
and Italian youth gangs began to defend their turfs. Simultaneously, as
World War II veterans returned to their old neighborhoods, they intro-
duced youth gangs to more sophisticated weaponry, allowing the youth
to substitute knives, homemade revolvers, and rifles for sticks, stones, and
bottles.?6 The use of more sophisticated weaponry was prevalent among
Italian, Irish, black, and Puerto Rican youth alike, but the media began to
focus its attention on the violence of black and Puerto Rican youth gangs.

Movies, novels, and newspaper articles recounted stories after stories
of young black and Puerto Rican young males, who had dropped out of
high school, depended on welfare, engaged in criminal activity, and had
psychological problems. In movies such as Knock on Any Door (1949),
white urban missionaries, such as teachers, doctors, nuns, priests, and
police officers, were portrayed as those who would save these urban sav-
ages. They were initially rejected, often raped, assaulted, and denigrated,
but eventually they delivered the delinquents from their miserable lives.2”

In reality, juvenile delinquency had resulted largely from the social dis-
ruptions caused by urban renewal. Since the 1940s, urban renewal projects
displaced poor New Yorkers into new neighborhoods that lacked social
cohesion. Title I of the Housing Act of 1949 created the Urban Redevelop-
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ment Agency and gave the federal government the authority to subsidize
three-fourths of the cost of local slum clearance and urban renewal. A de-
sire to revive the city with modern technology led politicians and business
leaders in New York City to replace slum buildings with new luxury apart-
ment buildings, offices, medical hospitals, and research universities. Al-
though poor whites and non-whites alike were displaced, non-whites bore
the brunt of the instability brought by urban renewal. Once displaced, they
had more difficulty finding alternative housing and often ended up pay-
ing more for rent than white residents.?® Hence, civil rights activists often
referred to “urban renewal” as “Negro removal.”?® Moving from neigh-
borhood to neighborhood and transferring from one school to another,
the children of poor black and Puerto Rican migrants became the most
helpless victims of urban renewal and structural racism. Boys often
tried to regain their dignity and masculinity within the sub-culture of
youth gangs, but in turn they became increasingly marginalized as so-
cial outcasts.30
The white leadership of the Union Settlement in East Harlem under-
stood that both structural injustice and the individual choice of youth gang
members caused juvenile delinquency, but they desperately lacked the
know-how to effectively reach out to the youth in their neighborhood. The
influx of Puerto Rican migrants and the out-migration of Italians and Jews
into the suburbs had significantly changed the face of East Harlem in the
1940s. Jewish synagogues became Pentecostal churches, and Italian gro-
ceries became bodegas.3! Yet, the old residents did not know how to adjust
to the newcomers. In 1952, settlement leaders expressed some of their
concerns with the Puerto Rican community in East Harlem in a report
titled “New York City’s Puerto Ricans: Asset or Liability?” They were
alarmed that Puerto Ricans’ influx into the city had overloaded the city’s
relief rolls. They also could not understand why “the juvenile delinquency
rate is higher in East Harlem than in any other part of the city . . . [and] the
narcotics problem has never been as serious as it is today.” Given that
Puerto Rican migrants made up more than 30 percent of East Harlem, they
seemed to be quite a liability for the neighborhood.?? The settlement house
leaders, however, did not blame them completely. They acknowledged that
language and color barriers, along with lack of skills and housing prob-
lems, aggravated the social problems of the Puerto Ricans. Despite their
suspicion about their new neighbors, the report concluded that it was the
Settlement’s role to help Puerto Ricans assimilate into American society:
“the task of assimilation is . . . gigantic. To the Union Settlement, which
has aided generations of newcomers to avail themselves of the possibilities
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of the new land, the Puerto Rican influx offers a great challenge.”?® Their
determination seemed honorable, but how exactly would they overcome
this challenge?
Diaz was the perfect solution to their- problems—he had both the offi-
cial credentials and the social intelligence to deal with gang members. A
year after the report, William Kirk hired Diaz as the teenage supervisor.
Two weeks into the program, Diaz’s credibility already was tested. Three
members of the Rebels, an Italian gang, had vowed to “get rid of the
blacks and spics before Christmas.” At the time, the Union Settlement had
a meager number of black and Puerto Rican members, but Diaz recog-
n1z§:d that this was “a power struggle as to who was this new guy who’s
taking over our program.” After Diaz issued a two-week suspension to
gang members for bringing weapons into the settlement, one of the Rebel
leaders dressed in a “zoot suit, and a long chain below his knee,” came
up to him and said, “Don’t you live at 1062 Colgate Avenue? Don’t you
have a wife named Alice? Don’t you have a daughter named Lisa?” Fa-
miliar with such intimidation tactics, Diaz responded, “Motherfucker!
Y01.1’d better pray that my wife and my daughter don’t fall down a flight of
stairs or get run over by a taxicab . . . but if anything should happen to
them, I'm going after your throat. And it’s you and me.” Surprised and
perhaps pleased by Manny’s familiarity with his street language, the Rebel
member then laughed and said, “Ok, I'll come backin a couple of weeks.”
As Diaz explained years later, “that was the point at which I earned my
Master’s in Social Work, because I dropped all my school training, and I
went to being a little gangster in the streets of East Harlem "3
It was also the turning point for the Settlement. After this incident,
black and Puerto Rican gang members joined the Settlement. By opening
up the Settlement to black and Puerto Rican youth, Diaz was able to shape
a larger racial transformation of East Harlem as a neighborhood. Settle-
ment organizations, churches, schools, and public housing in East Harlem
opened up for blacks and Puerto Ricans, such that by 1960, it became 40 per-
cen.t Puerto Rican, 30 percent black, and 10 percent Italian.3’ Furthermore,
during his six years of work as a program director at Union Settlement,
Diaz strategically used his leadership to train many other Puerto Ricans.
In 1954, he brought Toni Pantoja into the Settlement. Through the Settle-
mfant’s resources, such as telephones and mimeograph machines, Pan-
toja, Diaz, and many other Puerto Ricans formed the Hispanic Young

. Adult Association (HYAA).36 Through HYAA, Puerto Ricans such as

Maria Canino, J osephine Nieves, John Carro, Herman Badillo, and Marta
Valle came to learn the basics of community organizing and formed the
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Puerto Rican Forum and ASPIRA, an education advocacy group for
Puerto Rican youth.3” Many of them followed the footsteps of Diz}z'by
pursuing degrees in social work and engaging in comrpgmty organizing
through the Settlement. The Settlement’s role in organizing therp was so
crucial that Diaz later claimed that, “if anybody ever writes the history of
the development of the Puerto Rican community in New York .in accurate
terms, the Settlement would have to play the central role, not in the lead-
ership, but in the facilitation.”*8

JUVENILE DELINQUENCY AND NATIONAL CIVIL RIGHTS:
FORGING NEW ALLIANCES TO FIGHT POVERTY

Diaz had successfully trained local Puerto Rican leaders through the Set-
tlement, but by 1960, he became involved in a larger, national movement
that aimed to eradicate poverty and racial discrimination. The decade
brought a new wave of activists and thinkers across the country who as-
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Manny Diaz touring Robert F. Kennedy around the Lower East Side of New
York City, c. 1963.
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pired to create new modes of political resistance and transformation. By
engaging in sit-ins in 1960, black and white college students in Greens-
boro, North Carolina, introduced a new form of non-violent civil disobe-
dience to a nation hungry for change. That same year, sociologists Richard
A. Cloward and Lloyd E. Ohlin proposed a new way to understand Juvenile
delinquency. By arguing that juvenile delinquency was the result of a “dis-
crepancy between aspiration and opportunity” instead of psycholo gical and
cultural pathologies, they called for a “reorganization of slum communi-
ties.”* Cloward and Ohlin’s theory became known as the “opportunity the-
ory” since it argued that juvenile delinquents lacked not intelli gence or cul-
ture, but rather opportunity. When John F. Kennedy became the president
in 1961, such a theory led the new administration to create programs that
would tackle juvenile delinquency in sixteen locations across the country
by solving the problems of poverty rather than cultural pathology. Instead
of providing youth with rehabilitative programs, they would offer them
jobs and education. By 1962, a group of sociologists, social workers, and
public officials in New York City, funded by the President’s Committee
on Juvenile Delinquency and the National Institute for Mental Health, de-
cided to launch Mobilization for Youth (MFY) in the Lower East Side, the
first experimental anti-poverty program in the country.*> Having met Diaz
through the Columbia University School of Social Work, Richard Cloward
referred Diaz to MFY, where he was hired as the director of community
affairs and special projects. As the only Puerto Rican staff to be hired full-
time in a program located at a predominantly Puerto Rican neighborhood,
Diaz would play a crucial role in the organization.

Initially, MFY leaders did not know how to organize Puerto Ricans.
Puerto Rican migrants had just become a significant enough presence in
the city that public officials began to pay attention to them in the 1950s,
but it was not clear whether they should be treated as black or white. The
President’s Committee Executive Director David Hackett and Attorney
General Robert F. Kennedy originally selected the Lower East Side as the
first testing laboratory for an anti-poverty program because it was seen as
a neighborhood of white immigrants, including Europeans from Poland,
the Ukraine, and Italy. According to Herbert Krosney, author of Beyond
Welfare: Poverty in the Supercity (1966), “the fact that there were whites
in the neighborhood made good propaganda and a good public image.”
Neighborhoods such as Harlem and Bedford-Stuyvesant, which were
known as black neighborhoods, would not get federal funds for their
youth programs until the government tested its juvenile delinquency pro-
gram with a safer, “whiter” neighborhood, argued Krosney.#!
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In reality, however, the Lower East Side’s racial and ethnic dgmo graphy
was much more complex than “white.” According to Harold Weissman, an
MFY director, the Lower East Side was “27 percent Jewish, 26 percent
Puerto Rican, 11 percent Italian, 25 percent white, and 8 percept }?lack.”
The fact that Jews, Puerto Ricans, and Italians were noted at this time as
distinct from the 25% white population indicates that Puerto Ricans’ racial
standing may not have been too different from that of poor Jews and Ital-
ians—they were not fully white. Union settlement activists ar_1d commu-
nity leaders who self-identified as immigrant or desce?ndant of 1rpr.n1%rants
hoped that Puerto Rican migrants would follow their own famxlles path
toward assimilation. Despite the presence of darker Puerto Rlcans,.mgny
of them believed Puerto Ricans’ experience of migration was not dissim-
ilar to their own. Leonardo Covello, an Italian school principal of Ben-
jamin Franklin High School, for example, claimed that, “except for.the
fact that these newcomers [Puerto Ricans] were American citizens by rlgt.lt
of birth, there was no difference at all between them and early immi-
grants.”? .

As MFY workers began to target their work among Puerto Rican youtp,
however, they discovered they differed drastically from whi.te ethnic
youths. Puerto Rican youth formed the majority of the MFY clientele at
67 percent. During the first two years of the program, MFY staff wprkers
Initiated various employment training, social action, and commumty' de-
velopment projects in order to develop leadership among Puerto Rican
youth, but none of them had sustaining power. Commumt‘y df:velopment
programs fizzled out as soon as staff workers left the orgamza}tmn, and tbe
youth left the jobs as soon as they had satisfied their immedla.te financial
needs.*® Lacking a common political goal that could tie the interests of

staff and youth together, MFY functioned like a mere employment agency.

Then, in the summer of 1963, national political shifts turned the tides
for local Puerto Rican communities. Diaz met Bayard Rustin through
his wife, Sharon Daniel, who had befriended Rustin through Quaker-
sponsored events and civil rights activities. Rustin was at the time or-
ganizing the March on Washington for Jobs and Freedom. When Rustin
asked Diaz to bring Puerto Ricans to this national event, Diaz began to
recruit people from MFY and other settlement houses throughout t}le
city. He also received help from his friend Gilberto Gerena-Valentin,
union organizer of District 65 Retail, Wholesale, and Department
Stores Union, who recruited many Puerto Rican union members. .TQ-
gether, they were able to bring more than 2,000 Puerto Ricans to join
the march on August 28, 1963.44
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Diaz and Rustin’s collaborative work in organizing the March on Wash-
ington bore the first fruits of what became a friendship marked by mutual
admiration. By working with Rustin, Diaz observed his outstanding plan-

- ning skills. Rustin planned the event, which was attended by more than

200,000 peaceful demonstrators, by issuing four memos: the first declared
the event and said “hold the date”; the second identified the issues, orga-
nizers, and the methods of non-violent protest; the third indicated means
of transportation (church buses, trains, etc.); and the fourth detailed a safe
return home for the protesters. Diaz later marveled at Rustin’s organizing
genius: “This guy organized this event off index cards in his back
pocket!”** Rustin reciprocated Diaz’s admiration. As the head organizer of
the event, he valued Diaz’s contribution to ensure the event was a truly
‘multi-ethnic collective protest. He affectionately termed Diaz the “one
percenter” because Diaz “was the one percenter that took one percent
[2,000] of the 200,000 people to Washington on the bus.”*#6
The two thousand Puerto Rican marchers may have seemed insignifi-

cant at the rally in Washington, DC, but their participation had a deep im-
pact upon their return home. As one of the directors of MFY, Daniel Kro-
nenfeld, recounted, “as [Puerto Ricans] began to see how the Negro had
organized on the East Side and more broadly in the community,” they be-
gan to “listen to the Negroes because of this collective involvement,” and
to think that, “it was important for Puerto Ricans to do likewise.” Between
the winter of 1963 and the summer of 1964, a group of thirty to forty

Puerto Rican families met regularly to discuss welfare rights, rent strikes,

and paraprofessionals’ power. The leadership of the group shifted from the

original MFY community organizing staff to a number of “articulate

Puerto Rican women.” 47 When President Kennedy was assassinated in

November of 1963, Diaz gathered Puerto Ricans to a street rally on East

4th Street, inviting emerging Puerto Rican leaders Gerena and Ramoén

Vélez from Newark to discuss the significance of Kennedy’s death 48

By the end of 1963, Diaz began to see that he was a part of a social

revolution much larger than himself, and even much broader than the

goals of MFY. When Puerto Rican mothers from MFY began to protest

against the lack of school textbooks, and when Puerto Rican tenants be-

gan to organize rent strikes, Diaz recognized that they were reaching for

a much more powerful source of help than simple social services—they
were laying the foundation for a more permanent community and politi-
cal infrastructure. By taking on the issues that mattered to them instead
of relying on the leadership of white principals, mayors, and teachers,
they were following the footsteps of black New Yorkers who had been
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organizing rent strikes and parent committees in Harlem and Bedford-
Stuyvesant for much longer. Puerto Rican political activism began to
challenge not only the political establishment of the Lower East Side, but
also the system of racial discrimination that aimed to keep all “non-
whites” under the control of whites.

FROM THE SCHOOL BOYCOTT TO THE PUERTO RICAN
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT PROJECT:
CREATING COALITIONS FOR SOCIAL CHANGE

As Puerto Ricans began to adopt black political tactics, Diaz solidified
their political relationship once again by partnering with Rustin in 1964.
This time, however, black and Puerto Rican New Yorkers would join
hands by focusing on a local problem, which proved to be much more

2

Diaz at Puerto Rican Community Development Project cookout, c. 1965.
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dangerous to the local establishment. Following the March on Washing-
ton, Rustin began organizing a citywide school boycott to protest the city’s
slow progress in desegregating its public schools. Puerto Rican parents

~ in general had not expressed as much interest in school integration plans

as black parents, but this would still provide a way for them to express
their own grievances against the city’s education system.

As Diaz embarked on another joint action with a black civil rights
leader, however, he carefully chose his platform of negotiation since he
was conscious of Puerto Ricans’ lack of political power in comparison to
black Americans. Puerto Ricans, as the smaller and newer minority group
in the city, possessed much less political clout than blacks.*® Diaz wanted

- to ensure that the Puerto Rican perspective was adequately heard within

the civil rights leadership. When Rustin invited him to join the twelve-
member organizing committee for the school boycott, Diaz predicated
his acceptance upon the condition that his Puerto Rican friend Gilberto
Gerena-Valentin also be invited to join. When Rustin offered Diaz and
Gerena two seats within the twelve-member organizing committee, Ger-
ena and Diaz demanded that the two of them have equal representation
as the twelve black members of the committee. Wary of subjecting Puerto

.Ricans under black control, Gerena claimed, “There are two armies to do

battle—one is the black army, one is the Puerto Rican army . . . each army
should be able to veto any activity of the other army. The two of us should
have the same power as the twelve of [you].” To both of their surprise,
Rustin agreed. “You call the shots, all right, you call the shots. Come on
in,” he told them. To Diaz, Rustin’s decision to grant them such power
meant that he was an astute negotiator. “Bayard didn’t give a shit as to
how we got it, he just wanted us involved. That was the beauty of Ba-

~yard—he knew how to negotjate.”’s

Once Diaz joined the Committee, he delineated the specific interests
of the Puerto Rican community that distinguished it from the black com-
munity. Along with his friend Roland Cintrén, he presented Puerto Ri-
cans’ position in regard to school integration during a meeting with mem-
bers of the Board of Education on J anuary 13, 1964. He declared that, “it
Is .. . our contention that, in the heat of the existing dialogue on integra-
tion and quality education of the past few years, the center of the stage has
been assumed by issues directly affecting the Negro. The Puerto Rican has
been a buried statistical appendage to the Negro, the two having been
merged into one gross digit.” He argued that this misconception was
somewhat “understandable” because up to 20 percent of Puerto Ricans
themselves are “identified as Negro through their dark skins.” Blacks were
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numerically more significant than Puerto Ricans in New York City, and
Puerto Ricans “certainly do share a unity of purpose and goals with the
Negro on all these fronts.” Nevertheless, there were “special and unique
dimensions to the solution of problems which affect the Puerto Rican in
his pursuit of full education.”!

First, he emphasized that Puerto Ricans’ needs as a Spanish-speaking
migrant group demanded different pedagogical solutions. Second, as re-
cent migrants, Puerto Ricans also lacked blacks’ rich history in the city
and therefore needed to be taught Puerto Rican history in order to gain “a
positive self-image.” Third, and most importantly, Diaz asserted that
Puerto Ricans were not interested in school integration. The Open En-
rollment plans and the Free Choice Transfer plans, which were school
integration plans, “have no meaning to the Puerto Rican parent.” He ex-
plained that, “the Puerto Rican looks at himself as being wholly inte-
grated racially. He rejects the motion he has to seek out white or Negro
classmates when within his own culture you find the full range from rosy
pink to ebony black.”3? Not having experienced the history of strict racial
segregation as Americans had, Puerto Rican migrants did not share an in-
terest in school integration with black leaders. Why should they bus their
children to schools far away from their homes? Why should they harden
the segregation of poor quality schools by sending their children to
schools outside of their poor neighborhoods? Instead of calling for school
integration, Diaz called for an improvement of schools within Puerto Ri-
cans’ own neighborhoods—he asked for more Puerto Rican teachers and
more Puerto Rican parents to become involved in parent committees.>

Having made clear Puerto Ricans’ unique perspectives, Diaz and Ger-
ena forged a coalition with black educational leaders by leading Puerto
Rican parents in the school boycott on February 3, 1964. They also or-
ganized a second march to highlight Puerto Rican children’s distinct
needs a month later, on March 1. The boycott called for school integra-
tion; the march simply called for better education for Puerto Ricans with-
out any reference to race.>* Despite limited participation by black leaders,
Puerto Ricans came out in full force. When Gerena and Diaz saw that
Puerto Rican parents responded so positively to such a mass social
protest, they took the opportunity to form Puerto Ricans’ first civil rights
group, the National Association for Puerto Rican Civil Rights.>® In its
preamble, Gerena explained the specific relationship that Puerto Ricans
aimed to adopt with black Americans as a civil rights group alongside
blacks, but not of blacks:
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We, thej Puerto Rican people, in our way of life, do not practice
Separation of race either by law, by custom, by tradition or by de-
sire. Notwithstanding this and suspectedly because of this, in the
nomenclature of race relations on the Continent, we are,desig—
nated neither White nor N egro, but a special group denominated
Puerto Ricans. This objectivity, aggravated by our distinctiveness
of c‘ulture has made us the victims of the same type of discrimi-
nation and social persecution that is visited upon the Negro group
of tbis Country. The result has been to make us more conscious of
the justice and righteousness of the cause of the Negro in America
today. We therefore, feel impelled to identify ourselves with the

Negro’s ‘struggle and lend him our support, while at the same time

conserving our own cultural integrity and our own way of life.
We, therefore, launch ourselves into the arena of today’s struggles
for a full and complete education alongside the Negro with the

full knowledge that, by so doing, we are advancing our own
cause.56

By identifying directly with black Americans, Gerena and Diaz pro-
posec} a distinct explanation for the problem of Puerto Rican poverty. Re-
cent immigration, language handicaps, and cultural unfamiliarity all hin-
df:req Pgerto Rican advancement, but these two leaders believed that racial
discrimination was the primary cause of this poverty.

. Many Puerto Ricans disagreed with Gerena and Diaz. To them, racism
was an inevitable part of their culture. If it was considered a problem at all

it was an individual one that could be solved by each dark- ,
Rican marrying a lighter-skinned person. By doing so, they would rein-
force ‘the myth set out by individuals such as José Celso Barbosa, the most
prominent black political leader in Puerto Rico’s history, who advocated
that one could “mejorar la raza” (better the race) by marrying lighter.5?
In the mean time, while they tried to “whiten” the “Puerto Rican race”
generation by generation, they hoped slowly to move up the social ladder
l%ke many other Irish, Italian, and Jewish immigrants had. They did not be-
lieve that the established structures of power in the U.S., such as the Board
of Education, political parties, labor unions, and housing administrations,

were prejudiced against them. In the words of a Puerto Rican leader in
the 1960s, “their reaction to a poor school is, when I can earn a little
monfay, we’ll move to a better area or g0 back to Puerto Rico . . . alittle ed-
ucation, a better job, and you’re equal.”>® Such were the hopes of an

skinned Puerto
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assimilationist Puerto Rican—individual hard-work would guarantee
them a way up, so there was no need for an organized social protest.
To Diaz, however, such hopes were foolish dreams. He had given them
- up after experiencing white racism in the World War II army and, most
recently, in the Lower East Side. As soon as Puerto Rican mothers from
MFY began to organize themselves and demand better housing and edu-
cation, newspapers such as the New York Times began to denouncg the
group as “red-infested,” “ridden by scandal,” and hopelessly inefﬁcmn.t.
MFY leaders pleaded with public officials in the city to be given a fair
chance to “stage orderly protests against unfavorable conditions” and sim-
ply to practice democracy, but their actions were dismissed as “‘commu-
nist” and “subversive.” Like many other civil rights organizations stifled
by anti-Communist hysteria, the MFY became subject to vicious attacks
by those who felt that they brought too much change too rapidly. Paul
Screvane, chairman of the Mayor’s Poverty Council and the Anti-Poverty
Operations Board, had come to the conclusion that the group was too un-
predictable and thus that it needed to be brought under city officials’ ex-
amination and control.®® Such experiences taught Diaz that Puerto Ricans’
advancement constantly would be stifled by more powerful white leaders
and that they would perpetually be treated as second-class citizens. Iden-
tifying with blacks’ de facto status as second-class citizens, Diaz bega‘n
to see that adopting black political tactics actually might help Puerto Ri-
cans form political cohesion as “Puerto Rican” in a white-dominant world.
By 1964, several other Puerto Rican leaders began to reach similar con-
clusions. Antonia Pantoja, who was working at the Commission on Inter-
group Relations (COIR), also began to see that the plight of Puerto Ricans
and black Americans might not be too different. Although she previously
had worked exclusively with Puerto Rican groups such as ASPIRA and
the Puerto Rican Forum in the early 1960s, she began to understand the
nature of racism in the U.S. by working with members of the NAACP,
the Urban League, and the American Jewish Committee through the Com-
mission. She realized that in the U.S. it did not matter whether she was
as dark as a negra (dark-skinned with kinky hair) or as light as a grifa
(light-skinned with kinky hair). As she worked closely with COIR direc-
tors, she confessed, “for the first time, I understood that I was a black
woman.” She began to meet with black leaders of the Harlem Youth Op-
portunities Unlimited-Associated Community Teams (HARYOU-ACT),
who were organizing an anti-poverty program in Central Harlem. By
working with them, she began to envision how Puerto Ricans could de-
velop a similar plan to attack poverty within their community.%
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When President Lyndon B. Johnson announced his ambitious “War on
Poverty” agenda in the summer of 1964, he inadvertently opened up the
civil rights agenda to Puerto Ricans. During his first State of the Union ad-

- dress on June 8, 1964, he called for “an unconditional war to defeat

poverty” and proposed the “maximum feasible participation” by poor
people themselves to determine their path out of poverty. Although most
Americans understood that the War on Poverty was a program designed to
alleviate black poverty, Puerto Ricans seized the racially neutral language
of the legislation to fight against their own poor conditions. Following
the President’s announcement, a group of black, white, and Puerto Rican
civil rights activists in New York City gathered to discuss Puerto Ricans’

- need to create independent structures of power. The designers of the

HARYOU-ACT’s program, Cyril Tyson and Kenneth Clark, and Direc-
tor of MFY Richard Cloward met with Pantoja, Diaz, and Gerena. To-
gether, they concluded that the power base of Puerto Ricans in New York
City was severely limited. Because the only institution that represented
their needs was the Office of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, Puerto
Ricans had limited access to lobby for change. The Commonwealth Of-
fice’s mandate was to ease adjustment issues for incoming Puerto Ricans,

but not to challenge discriminatory practices. Puerto Ricans did not have

any civil rights organizations equivalent to black Americans’ National
Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP), the Na-
tional Urban League (NUL), or the Congress of Racial Equality (CORE),
all of which had extensive national networks. Furthermore, Puerto Ri-
cans lacked a physical space that they could control, such as black
Harlem, because they were scattered throughout seventeen different
neighborhoods in New York City.5! The absence of a Puerto Rican neigh-
borhood meant that they could not apply for federal funding based on

- neighborhood affiliation like black leaders in Harlem and Bedford-

Stuyvesant had done. If Puerto Ricans were scattered throughout the city,
how would each cluster of Puerto Ricans apply for funding separately?
Cloward offered them the perfect solution—he called it the “holding
company.”’$? He suggested that a core group of Puerto Ricans apply for
federal anti-poverty funding through a holding company, which would
then develop contracts with different groups of Puerto Rican organizations
scattered throughout the city. The holding company would offer a salary

- for the director and would pay for rent and telephone services, but the

rest would be left to the devices of each organization in East Harlem, the
South Bronx, Williamsburg, and other neighborhoods. Diaz, Gerena, and
Pantoja all agreed.5® Under the leadership of Pantoja, the Puerto Rican
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Forum subrmitted a proposal and received $42,000 from the city’s adrpm—
istration.%* Through Gerena’s hometown groups, wl}ifzh were Puerto Rican
groups organized by the island hometowns from which they‘ came, a hun-
dred Puerto Rican community leaders signed up to head antl—povert.y pro-
grams in their neighborhoods. Through Diaz’s work ex'perience with the
MFY, these Puerto Rican leaders began to learn the basics apout commu-
nity development and youth leadership programs. After six mgnths of
training, these Puerto Rican leaders, along with several Puerto Rican so-
cial workers from the Puerto Rican Forum, officially formed the PueFto
Rican Community Development Project (PRCDP).“‘ Of .the PRCDP, Diaz
later explained, “that was the first time these organizations were able to
breathe. It was starters. It worked beautifully.”% _

A year later, Diaz was able to secure additional funding to the PRCDP
by talking directly to Sargent Shriver, director of the Qfﬁce of Equal Op-
portunities in Washington, DC. Diaz had met Shriver wh1}e working for the
MFY, and was thus able to secure an appointment with him. He took along
with him four of his good friends: lawyer Joe Erazo, Revgrend Ruben
Dario Colén, businessman Luis Hernandez, and labor orgamzer Qerena.
When they stated the case of Puerto Ricans in New York City to‘ ‘Shnver, he
responded positively, but demanded an immediate proposal: “Get thee a
hotel, get thee a secretary, and get thee a proposal on my desk by 9 am to-
morrow morning.” After staying up all night, they submitted a proposal to
Shriver the following morning, and received $3.5 million for the PRCDP.
This was an incredible feat—=$3.5 million was more than they had ever
expected. It was ten times less than the $40 million that black anu-pov.erty
groups in New York City had received, but they knew thgt Pue'rto Rlc'an
New Yorkers were insignificant to most Washington officials. Filled with
great excitement and hope, Diaz and others returned to New York to laun,ch
the nation’s first Puerto Rican anti-poverty program. 57 As Robert de Lepn,
another anti-poverty leader, recounted, “I was convinced we were going
to end the War on Poverty. Because there was so much money, we thought,
my God, we cannot go wrong. We’re gonna do this. 68

CONCLUSION: A LEGACY OF CROSS-ETHNIC ALLIANCES

As many U.S. historians have shown, Leén was wrong. They could not
do it, and they did not do it. As many came to see after thg years of great
hope and anticipation, solving the problem of povert.y required much more
than simply giving the poor an “opportunity” for a job—they needed real
jobs. Anti-poverty leaders themselves came to see that they needed much
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more than money to organize their communities; they needed sustained re-
lationships of trust and a common vision that would help people overcome
petty competition for money or positions of power.

For black and Puerto Rican anti-poverty leaders in particular, they
needed a much broader vision than a simple call for “minority” rights or
a common “white” enemy in order to work with each other—they needed
to understand how racism worked differently among their particular com-
munities, and how they themselves perpetuated racist patterns of thought
with one another. They needed to see that black xenophobia was no less
damaging than white xenophobia, and Puerto Rican racism was no less
traumatizing than white racism.

Nevertheless, many of them came to see each other as common vic-
tims of racialization and colonization. Puerto Ricans and blacks both
were U.S. citizens, but they were accorded a second-class status and
treated as a racial “Other.” In many ways, the discrepancy between their
official and actual status led both groups to feel more resentment regard-

- ing the inferjority imposed upon them, at the same time that it provided

more freedom to voice their grievances. Unlike typical immigrants,
Puerto Rican protesters did not have to fear deportation. As Puerto Ricans
began to see that they were being racialized in the same way as black
Americans, and as black Americans began to view themselves as subjects
of “internal colonialism,” they found a common identity as colonial and
racial subjects.

The lives of Diaz and his allies thus left a deep legacy of cross-racial

- coalition building for many blacks and Puerto Ricans who began to see

both groups through a common lens. Diaz insisted that it was always “is-
sues” that made strong coalitions possible. To him, a coalition-builder
needed to ask four questions before coimmitting to an issue: 1) is it rele-
vant? 2) is it understandable and accessible? 3) is it of critical importance
and 4) is it feasible or workable?’70

Cross-ethnic alliances were not merely professional. Diaz’s three mar-
riages to women of Jewish, Scottish, and Puerto Rican ancestry illustrated

_ Diaz’s choice to trust people across ethnic lines. His public reputation as

somebody who was “tight with everybody” demonstrated that creating re-
lationships of trust was a way of life to him. For Diaz, having a racial or
ethnic identity entailed defending the rights of their group whenever such
rights were trampled upon, but it did not create circles of absolute inclusion
nor exclusion. Diaz allowed people of all shades and ethnicities to enter
his circles of friendship and alliance, but he constantly tested which of
them he could trust. He argued that healthy coalitions were built not as a
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result of “progressive and enlightened humanitarianism,” but rather as a
result of “conflicting and contending social movements reflecting differ-
ent philosophies, value systems, programmatic strategies and political
constraints.””! Understanding that conflict is a necessary component of
coalition building, Diaz protected himself from the interracial bickering
that came to poison many black-Puerto Rican alliances in the late 1960s
and 1970s.72 He did not believe that being “black” and being “Puerto Ri-
can” were mutually exclusive, neither did he believe that having trust and
conflict were antithetical to each other. His flexibility ultimately allowed
him to create lasting coalitions with both communities. ‘

With such personal and political lessons, Diaz and other leaders con-
tinued to fight for justice even after their anti-poverty programs folded.”?
Despite their limited access to established forms of influence, Puerto Ri-
cans established independent structures of political power in New York
City and throughout the Northeast region in the 1960s and 1970s. Orga-
nizations such as the PRCDP also paved the way for the next generation
of Puerto Rican activists to fight for their place. In the late 1960s and
1970s, young Puerto Ricans formed the Young Lords, Taller Boricua, the
Center of Puerto Rican Studies, the Nuyorican Poets Café, and many oth-
ers, in part because they had grown up watching their mothers, fathers, un-
cles, aunts, teachers, and community leaders fight for justice. '

Diaz was an “abuelo of the revolution,” a grandfather of the revolution.
An elected state congresswoman, Nydia Veldzquez, who was one of the
Puerto Rican leaders who followed Diaz’s generation, stated after his death
in 2006 that, “From his involvement in the civil rights movement, to his
work on behalf of gang prevention, and advocacy for higher education—
Manny has given scores of Hispanic Americans the tools they need to em-
power themselves, their families, and their communities.”” Americans, both
native-born and immigrant, everyday are still testing whether these tools
promote better democratic practices. That we have not arrived at a good, sat-
isfying answer points perhaps to the imperfection of their vision, but also
to its power in capturing the human desire for justice and equality.
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